STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA RECEIVED

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS JUN 09 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Pickens County

James R. Barber, III, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

CHRISTOPHER LEE MEADOWS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-000394

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT.

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the testimony of the State's "expert" in the "dynamics of childhood sexual abuse" should have been admitted when it contained nothing that would assist the trier of fact and improperly bolstered the complainant's credibility?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 15, 2011, a Pickens County grand jury indicted appellant for second degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor. R. 278. On February 24, 2014, appellant was tried before the Honorable James R. Barber, III, and a jury. R. 1. Sam Tooker represented the State. R. 1. John DeJong represented appellant. R. 1. The jury convicted appellant. R. 271, ll. 15 – 17. Judge Barber sentenced appellant to sixteen years' imprisonment. R. 277, ll. 7 – 9. This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

The testimony of the State's "expert" in the "dynamics of childhood sexual abuse" should not have been admitted because it contained nothing that would assist the trier of fact and improperly bolstered the complainant's credibility.

The Abuse Allegations

The complainant ("Minor") was thirteen years old at the time of the alleged sexual abuse. R. 77, l. 24 – 78, l. 2. Minor's mother dated appellant. R. 79, ll. 9 – 18. Appellant moved in with them. R. 79, ll. 19 – 23. Appellant had children of his own. R. 80, ll. 11 – 14.

Minor claimed that on the Friday after Thanksgiving in 2010, appellant sent her a text message inviting her to ride with him. R. 81, ll. 3 – 9. She had recently broken up with her boyfriend. R. 81, ll. 10 – 12. She discussed the break-up with appellant. R. 81, ll. 10 – 14. Minor claimed that appellant then led the conversation in the direction of sex. R. 81, l. 17 – 23. They sent explicit pictures of themselves to each other. R. 82, ll. 11 – 23. Minor claimed that she eventually rode with appellant to a parking lot and were "getting started," but did not have sex that night. R. 83, l. 2 – 84, l. 13. She claimed they subsequently had sex "seven, eight times" in the car and in their house. R. 84, ll. 11 – 22.

Minor claimed they exchanged numerous text messages of a sexual nature. R. 85, l. 22 – 86, l. 22. Minor's mother also claimed she saw suspicious text messages. R. 114, l. 8 – 115, l. 13. Minor's younger sister ("Sister 2") claimed she saw text messages, as well. R. 57, l. 14 – 59, l. 15. The police obtained call records that purportedly showed the transmission of text messages between appellant and Minor, but did not contain the content of the text messages. R. 165, ll. 1 – 17. Minor admitted that before she went to

the police, she erased all of the text messages and photographs that she supposedly exchanged with appellant. R. 94, l. 14 – 95, l. 4.

Sister 2 claimed she was the first person that Minor told about the alleged abuse. R. 57, ll. 1 – 8. Sister 2 did not immediately inform her mother or police. R. 57, ll. 9 – 13. Sister 2 told Sister 1. R. 67, ll. 3 – 7. Sister 1 then spoke with Minor about the alleged abuse. R. 67, ll. 5 – 7. The sisters then told her mother without Minor's knowledge. R. 61, ll. 5 – 10. The mother waited until the next day to report the allegations to the police. R. 119, l. 24 – 120, l. 10. Appellant's ex-wife took Minor home from the police station. R. 74, ll. 4 – 15.

The girls were taken from the mother and the mother allowed appellant to move back in with her. R. 123, ll. 3 – 9. They lived together for approximately another two or three years. R. 123, ll. 3 – 17.

Minor's trial testimony contradicted what she originally told the police. R. 102, l. 24 – 103, l. 22. She admitted that in her first statement to the police, she told them she had sex with appellant on the Friday after Thanksgiving. R. 102, l. 24 – 103, l. 22. She admitted that her statement was not accurate and explained that she "wasn't comfortable," and was "not the one that wanted to go to the police department." R. 103, ll. 16 – 22. Minor also admitted that she did not make any of these allegations to her mother until after her mother told her that going to marry appellant. R. 104, ll. 6 – 105, l. 6.

The State's Expert Witness

During a break in the trial, defense counsel alerted the court that he would make a motion to exclude the State's expert witness. R. 147, ll. 5 – 10. The trial court asked if it would be necessary to proffer testimony and defense counsel stated that it would. R. 147, ll. 11 – 15.

As its last witness, the State called Shauna Galloway-Williams ("Williams"). R. 165, l. 19 – 166, l. 1. The trial judge dismissed the jury and heard argument from the attorneys. R. 166, l. 2 – 170, l. 7. Defense counsel anticipated that Williams would testify about delayed disclosure and grooming and argued that it would be nothing "more than bolstering or an attempt to bolster the alleged victim's testimony." R. 166, ll. 11 – 20. Defense counsel also argued that under Rule 702, Williams' testimony would not aid the trier of fact. R. 166, l. 21 – 167, l. 21.

The State responded that it would offer Williams "as a blind expert" and that she would testify regarding "delayed disclosure and grooming and then compliant victims." R. 168, ll. 16 – 169, l. 1. The trial judge asked for a proffer and Williams took the stand. R. 170, ll. 4 – 170, l. 23.

During her proffer, Williams offered her opinions on why children delay reporting abuse, "grooming," and that "compliant victims" often believe they are responsible are responsible for the abuse and this prevents disclosure. R. 172, l. 22 – 178, l. 13. After the proffer, appellant again argued that he had "heard nothing in this particular testimony that would aid the trier of fact." R. 179, ll. 5 – 19. Appellant also argued that Williams' testimony would be "pure bolstering." R. 179, ll. 15 – 19.

The trial judge denied appellant's motion. R. 183, ll. 9 – 21. The court stated:

I'm going to find that she's basically providing information to the jury that may help the jury – assist the jury in – the jury's province is determining credibility of all witnesses **and if she's providing information that may factor into a situation like this to assist them in ultimately making a decision, its decision, as to credibility.**

R. 183, ll. 9 – 16 (emphasis added). When Williams took the stand in front of the jury, defense counsel placed an ongoing objection to the entirety of her testimony on the record and the trial judge noted the objection. R. 185, ll. 16 – 20.

The trial judge qualified Williams as an expert in “dynamics of childhood sexual abuse.” R. 188, l. 23 – 189, l. 13. Williams testified she had not been in contact with Minor. R. 189, l. 25 – 190, l. 2. She had not reviewed Minor's written statement nor seen any evidence in the case. R. 190, l. 17 – 22. She told the jury that delayed disclosure was “very common.” R. 191, ll. 1 – 6. She stated that children often do not report abuse because they are afraid. R. 191, l. 11 – 192, l. 9. She told the jury that the more authority a person has, the harder it is for children to report abuse. R. 193, ll. 3 – 14. She discussed “grooming” as normalizing sexual behavior and paying more attention to a child. R. 194, l. 8 – 195, l. 12. She defined the term “compliant victim” as someone who did not perceive themselves as a victim and that they contributed to the sexual abuse that occurred. R. 195, ll. 13 – 22. She stated that “compliant victims” have a much more difficult time reporting abuse. R. 197, ll. 10 – 23. During cross-examination, she claimed that “between 2 to 4% of allegations are false allegations. It's much more likely that you would have a false denial where there may actually be proof or evidence that a child has been abused and that child actually denies it happening, then the chances of allegation being a purely false allegation. According to the research.” R. 199, ll. 8 – 16.

Discussion

Admission of Williams' testimony was error. The trial judge recognized that the only reason for Williams' testimony was to bolster Minor's credibility. The State sought to circumvent State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013), with Williams' testimony. In State v. Whitner, 399 S.C. 547, 732 S.E.2d 861 (2012), the Supreme Court held that a forensic interviewer's testimony was properly limited to the foundation necessary to introduce a video recording of a child's interview. See also State v. Douglas, 380 S.C. 499, 671 S.E.2d 606 (2009) (holding there is no need to qualify a forensic interviewer as an expert and Pleicones, J., calling forensic interviewers "human 'truth detectors'" in dissent). The Court stated that it had "confronted instances where the State has abused the statute and sought to have the forensic interviewer, improperly imbued with the imprimatur of an expert witness, invade the province of the jury by vouching for the credibility of the alleged victim." Id. Discussing the qualification of the forensic interviewer in Kromah, the Supreme Court said, "[W]e state today that we can envision no circumstance where [a forensic interviewer's] qualification as an expert at trial would be appropriate." Id. at 357 737 S.E.2d at 499 n.5. The Court further noted that the "label of expert should be jealously guarded by the court and never loosely bandied about." Id. at 357, 737 S.E.2d at 499.

Furthermore, as defense counsel argued, Rule 702 prohibits testimony that does not aid the trier of fact and the trial court failed in its gatekeeping role to exclude such evidence. Rule 702, SCRE. State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 272-273, 676 S.E.2d 684, 687-688 (2009). In Mitchell v. Commonwealth, 777 S.W2d 930 (Ky. 1989) the Supreme Court of Kentucky excluded evidence regarding "Child Sexual Abuse Accommodation Syndrome." This

syndrome involved delay of disclosure in abuse, secrecy, helplessness, entrapment and accommodation, and retraction. The alleged victim in Mitchell told Richard Welch, who held a Masters degree in clinical social work, that she did not report the sexual abuse immediately because she was afraid.

The Kentucky Supreme Court held that the state had failed to prove that the “so called Sexual Abuse Accommodation Syndrome” had attained a scientific acceptance. Mitchell, 777 S.W.2d at 932. The Court noted there was no testimony that sexual abuse by persons other than the accused could have produced the same symptoms in the victims.

The Kentucky court noted there was no testimony that all children who are sexually abused exhibited these symptoms, nor was there testimony that children who have not been sexually abused do not exhibit similar elements of the syndrome. The court found reversible error because: (1) there was no medical testimony that the syndrome is a generally accepted medical concept and, (2) the testimony had no substantial relevance to the issue of the defendant’s guilt or innocence. Id. at 933.

Williams’ testimony was identical to the evidence excluded in Mitchell. She gave only vague descriptions of commonsense concepts that are well within the realm of lay jurors. The thrust of her testimony was that children delay reporting abuse because they are afraid or feel they have done something wrong. These ideas are not beyond the ken of a juror. Nor did Williams cite any specific studies or research to support her vague notions regarding the “dynamics” of child sexual abuse. Her testimony was a thinly veiled attempt to bolster Minor’s testimony and was tailored to generally discuss the specifics of this case.