**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM PICKENS COUNTY  
James R. Barber, III, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-000394

**RECEIVED**

JUN 17 2015

SC Court of Appeals  
RESPONDENT

THE STATE, .....

v.

CHRISTOPHER LEE MEADOWS, .....APPELLANT.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 8729

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-3727

W. WALTER WILKINS, III  
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 E. North Street, Suite 325  
Greenville, South Carolina 29601  
(864) 467-8647

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Christopher Lee Meadows (Appellant) was indicted at the August, 2011 term of the grand jury for Pickens County for criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the second degree (2011-GS-39-01339). He was represented by Assistant Public Defender John Dejong, of the Thirteenth Circuit Public Defender's Office. Respondent (the State) was represented by Assistant Solicitor Sam Tooker of the Thirteenth Circuit Solicitor's Office. (R.p.1). On February 24-25, 2014, Appellant proceeded to trial by jury before the Honorable James R. Barber, III, pursuant to which he was found guilty as indicted. He was sentenced to sixteen (16) years' imprisonment. (R.p.278-280; R.p.271, line 5-p.277, line 12). Appellant timely filed a notice of intent to appeal his conviction and sentence and subsequently submitted a Brief in support of his appeal. This Brief of Respondent follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 2010, Appellant initiated an inappropriate relationship with the minor victim, which culminated in Appellant sexually abusing the thirteen-year-old girl by having sexual intercourse with her seven or eight times between November of 2010 and March of 2011. Appellant was dating the victim's mother at the time, and engaged the victim in sexually explicit conversations and text messages before he escalated the relationship to include sexual abuse. (R.p.24, line 15-p.30, line 18; p.77, line 16-p.93, line 3).

During jury qualification the trial judge asked if any members of the jury panel or any of their immediate family members had ever worked for any organization, agency or business which investigated and/or counseled victims of alleged sexual assault. There was no response. The trial judge also asked if any member of the jury panel or any immediate family member had ever been the victim of any type of sexual assault, sexual assault and battery, or any other crime against a person. Five individual jurors approached the bench with information. Three of those five were excused by the trial judge for cause, and the two others were stricken from the panel during jury selection, leaving no seated juror who professed prior knowledge, from family members or otherwise, about sexual abuse or typical behavioral characteristics of victims of sexual abuse. (R.p.5, line 1-p.20, line 21; p.21, lines 10-13; p.22, lines 13-15).

At trial, after the jury was sworn, the trial court gave preliminary instructions which included the following comment: "Conceivably we can have what is called an expert witness and that is somebody who has special knowledge, skill, experience, [or] training in some specialized field. If we have an expert, the expert can offer an opinion in his or her areas of expertise. Fact witnesses can only tell you what facts they are – they have." (R.p.23, lines 9-14). During opening statements, the solicitor told the jury

Appellant was charged with a crime because he had sex with the victim when she was only thirteen years old. He explained Appellant was dating the victim's mother when he began a sexual relationship with the victim. The solicitor noted there was no force or coercion involved and that the victim would claim she consented to the sex; however, it was impossible for a child to consent to sex under the law. He said the case the State would present was based primarily on the victim's testimony and as a result it was a case that "comes down to credibility." (R.p.24, line 15-p.30, line 18). In response, Appellant told the jury to focus on the presumption of innocence. He said he would not address reasonable doubt or credibility until the end of the trial when the jury had heard all of the evidence. (R.p.30, line 22-p.35, line 4).

The State then presented testimony and evidence from a series of witnesses, including the victim. First, the State called Sergeant Matthew Brannen of the city of Pickens Police Department to the stand. In April of 2011 he received a report of a possible sex crime with a minor and went to the Pickens County Law Enforcement Center to meet with the victim, her mother, and a friend of the family (Robert William Futrell) who had driven them to the police station. Brannen spoke to the victim and described her as being sad and disappointed and as suppressing her emotions. During the talk, the victim disclosed the time and place of the sexual encounters. She told Brannen the first encounter happened a couple of days after Thanksgiving in 2010 and that she had sex with the person a total of seven or eight times, mostly at 300 John Street in the city of Pickens. (R.p.37, line 9-p.41, line 25). On cross-examination Brannen clarified that although the victim was sad and crying at the meeting, she was not hysterical. (R.p.42, line 4-p.44, line 8).

Next, the State called Robert William Futrell to the stand. Futrell and the victim's mother were close friends and he said he had known the victim since she was born. Futrell then described Appellant as his "best friend" and said they had been best friends for years. One day as Futrell was driving the victim to a birthday party, he received a text message from the victim's mother. Based on that message, he asked the victim if anything was going on between her and Appellant. Based on her response Futrell called the victim's mother, drove to pick her up, and then drove them to the police department. Later that night, Futrell had a conversation with Appellant. Futrell testified Appellant threatened him and said he was going to kill him because Appellant thought Futrell had made up the story about Appellant and the victim. Futrell said he got a weapon because he believed Appellant's threats were serious. (R.p.44, line 22-p.51, line 16).

The State then called the victim's two younger sisters to the stand. Sister 1, who was thirteen years old at the time of trial, was the first person the victim told about her involvement with Appellant. She did not initially go to her mom or to the police with the information because she was scared. The victim showed Sister 1 text messages she had received from Appellant, including one where Appellant asked the victim to go riding in the car with him so they could have sex. A couple of times when Sister 1 and Sister 2 would come in from playing outside they discovered the victim and Appellant in their mother's bedroom, all by themselves, under the covers. Sister 1 and Sister 2 ultimately reported the relationship to their mother, who then asked Appellant to get his stuff out of the house. After Appellant moved out, the victim repeatedly asked Sister 1 to sleep in her room and spend the night with her. (R.p.54, line 18-p.62, line 17).

Sister 2, who was fifteen years old at the time of the trial, testified she first learned what was going on when she was told by Sister 1, and later heard about the relationship from the victim. She was supposed to keep the relationship a secret but decided to tell her mother because it was wrong. Sister 2 remembered Appellant and the victim sometimes disappearing for an hour or two at a time, saying they were going to Walmart, but then returning without having purchased anything. The victim never specifically told Sister 2 when or where the sex occurred. Sister 2 went with the victim and her mother to the police department when the crimes were first reported to the police and described the victim as being upset and crying. (R.p.66, line 16-p.70, line 25).

Next, the sixteen-year-old victim took the stand. She described her home life and the sexual abuse she suffered at the hands of Appellant. The victim was twelve when her mother started dating Appellant. He moved in with them a couple of months later. The victim testified the sexual encounters took place about a year later, when she was thirteen. After moving in, Appellant did not take on a "fatherly" role in the household; however, everything "revolved around him." The victim said she and Appellant started communicating through text messages shortly after she broke up with her boyfriend, and that their conversations soon turned to sexual topics, like Appellant asking whether she was a virgin. Appellant also asked the victim to send him photos of her, and the two exchanged sexually explicit pictures. The victim testified that on Black Friday of 2010, the day after Thanksgiving, Appellant asked her mom if the victim could ride with him so that they could get to know each other better. After dropping Appellant's cousin off, Appellant parked in a parking lot and he and the victim began touching each other. Eventually their pants were off and they were "getting started," but stopped before they

had sex because the victim's mother kept calling. The victim was jealous because Appellant was still with her mom, even though she knew her own relationship with Appellant was wrong. She testified she and Appellant had sex seven or eight times either in parking lots or her mom's room at the house, but they stopped shortly after February of 2011. The victim testified Appellant shaved his genitals all the time so that he had no body hair on them. (R. p.77, line 16-p.86, line 15).

The victim acknowledged exchanging a lot of text messages with Appellant and sharing some of those messages with Sister 1, including one in which Appellant said he wanted to have sex. The victim told Sister 1 what was going on but asked her to keep it a secret. She explained she needed to tell someone to get it off of her chest because she knew it was wrong, but she also did not want the relationship to stop. The victim testified she felt guilty, like she was hurting her mother. The victim said Appellant ended the sexual relationship because she was actively trying to stop him from marrying her mother, which made him mad. She testified that sometimes the sex happened in the house and that Appellant would usually bring her Gatorade<sup>®</sup> and a Slim Jim<sup>®</sup> as an excuse to go meet her in the bedroom. (R.p.86, line 16-p.93, line 3). On cross-examination, Appellant attacked the victim's credibility. He questioned her about the accuracy of her disclosure to the police, her emotional state at the time of that disclosure, and the fact that she originally denied any sexual contact when questioned by mother. (R.p.93, line 4-p.109, line 23).

The State then called the victim's mother, Georgia, to the stand. She referred to Appellant as her "ex-boyfriend" and explained they were together for a total of four-and-a-half years, one-and-a-half years before the allegations and three more years after.

Georgia met Appellant when the victim was a baby and had known him seventeen years. She first suspected something was going on between the victim and Appellant in March of 2011 when she found text messages from the victim to Appellant on his phone, and responses Appellant sent back. Georgia recognized the number as belonging to the victim and recognized the name assigned to that number matching the nickname Appellant used for the victim, which was “punk.” In one text message the victim asked Appellant to bring her a Slim Jim<sup>®</sup> and some Gatorade<sup>®</sup> so he could give her a big kiss goodnight. Georgia asked the victim about the text messages and she denied they were hers. (R.p.110, line 21-p.116, line 25).

Georgia recalled a particular instance when Appellant asked her if the victim could ride with him to take his cousin home. She thought this was significant because usually Appellant would ask them all to go, but this time he only asked about the victim. When Georgia questioned whether the victim should go because it was already late on a school night, Appellant reacted defensively and said: “I can’t believe you would think I would do something like that.” However, Georgia had not accused Appellant of wanting to do anything to warrant this reaction. Georgia testified Appellant had kept his genitals “clean shaved” in 2011. Finally, Georgia recounted Black Friday of 2010 when Appellant and the victim were gone for over two hours on a purported trip to Walmart, and returned with just a box of candies and a card. (R.p.117, line 1-p.121, line 25). On cross-examination Georgia said the victim would not talk to her about the situation with Appellant. (R.p.131, line 20-p.132, line 5).

The State then called Georgia’s sister, Betty Ipina to the stand. The victim went to live with Ipina in North Carolina about a week after the allegations were made and

stayed with her for almost two years. Sister 1 and Sister 2 eventually moved to North Carolina to live with her as well. Ipina testified that after moving in, the victim was initially depressed and would sometimes cut herself, but she went through counseling at school and later seemed happy and positive. The victim never disclosed anything about Appellant to Ipina. (R.p.132, line 23-p.136, line 24). On cross-examination, Appellant asked Ipina if, when the girls returned to their mother, Georgia and Appellant still had a relationship. Ipina responded: "No. She had to go through parenting classes and stuff in order for her to regain custody. And that was one of the circumstances that she regain custody is she had to stay away from - - keep the kids away from him, any contact, until the court hearing was over." (R.p.137, lines 3-20).

At the start of the second day of trial Appellant reminded the trial judge that, in regard to the State's expert witness, he would be moving to prohibit her from testifying and would be asking the State to proffer her testimony before a ruling. (R.p.147, lines 5-18). The State then called Pickens police detective Travis Riggs to the stand. Riggs investigated the allegations, which included interviewing the victim. She told Riggs the sexual encounters happened between Thanksgiving of 2010 and March of 2011, either in her home at 300 John Street or in a vehicle in an unknown location. Riggs testified the victim was nervous at the beginning of the interview and then became ashamed and saddened and eventually began crying. Riggs also interviewed Futrell and the victim's sisters and then secured a warrant for Appellant's arrest. He attempted to obtain Appellant's cell phone and the victim's cell phone to check them for text messages; however, Appellant had broken his cell phone and it was damaged too badly to recover any information, and the victim had erased all of the text messages from her phone.

Riggs then sought cell phone records from Verizon. He said the company did not have records of the content of the text messages between the two numbers, but was able to provide call logs showing the times and dates of the text message sent from and received by from each phone. (R.p.148, line 22-p.156, line 13).

The State then called Verizon's records custodian, Karen Milbrodt, and introduced the call logs into evidence before recalling Detective Riggs. (R.p.160, line 1-p.163, line 4). Riggs testified that between November 22, 2010, and March 5, 2011, there were a little over 1,700 texts from Appellant to Georgia, compared to 4,657 texts from Appellant to the victim, and 4,300 texts from the victim to Appellant. (R.p.164, line 14-p.165, line 24).

When the State finally called Galloway-Williams to the stand, the trial court excused the jury to hear arguments on Appellant's motion to prohibit her testimony. Appellant noted that based on prior experience with Galloway-Williams, he expected the State would elicit testimony about late reporting, grooming, and other behavioral characteristics of child sex abuse victims. He argued "this is nothing more than bolstering or an attempt to bolster the alleged victim's testimony." Appellant further argued that, under Rule 702, the testimony would not help the jury to understand the evidence or determine a fact in issue. He contended there would be no evidence the jury needed help to understand and that it was simply "an attempt by the state to backdoor bolster the allegations as made by the alleged victim." The solicitor acknowledged the State intended to offer Galloway-Williams as an expert to explain why the victim may have reacted the way she did in regard to trying to keep the abuse a secret, but would not

ask her to offer an opinion that, in fact, the abuse occurred. The trial judge asked the solicitor to proffer the testimony. (R.p.165, line 25-p.170, line 7).

Galloway-Williams testified she is Executive Director of the Julie Valentine Center where she performs administrative and executive functions and sometimes conducts forensic interviews. She holds a bachelor's degree in psychology, a master's degree in counseling, and is licensed as a professional counselor in South Carolina. As the State proceeded to question Galloway-Williams about her qualifications and reliability, the trial judge interrupted to ask if Appellant was even contesting her qualifications. Appellant said he was not questioning her qualifications but argued that if Galloway-Williams was not offering an opinion, her testimony would not fit under Rule 702. (R.p.170, line 8-p.172, line 19).

The trial court asked the solicitor to proceed so it could hear what Galloway Williams had to say. Galloway-Williams explained "delayed disclosure" or "delayed reporting" as the behavioral phenomenon of a child not telling anyone immediately after a sexual assault. She said it is very common for children not to tell right away, with the primary reason being fear, either that something bad will happen to them, or something bad will happen to someone else when they tell. Galloway-Williams also described "normalization of sexual activity" and "relationship dynamics" and how these concepts influence the process of disclosure. She described "grooming" as the act of preparing a child or "testing the waters" with a child in an attempt to make the child more comfortable with the ultimate act that is going to be committed. Finally, Galloway-Williams explained the term "compliant victim" as describing a victim who may not see

herself as a victim because she either participated in the act or failed to fight back. (R.p.172, line 20-p.179, line 13).

Appellant elected not to cross-examine Galloway-Williams and continued to argue that nothing in her testimony would aid the trier of fact. He contended the testimony would constitute “pure bolstering.” The solicitor responded the testimony would assist the trier of fact in determining a fact in issue and therefore was admissible pursuant to Rule 702. Appellant disagreed and claimed the testimony being offered was “closely akin” to the forensic interviewer testimony recently ruled inadmissible by this Court and should be excluded. The solicitor noted the cases referenced by Appellant deal with forensic interviewing and specific testimony about the credibility of the disclosure. He argued this case was distinguishable because Galloway-Williams was only explaining the dynamics of disclosure and grooming and not testifying the victim was telling the truth. Ultimately the trial court denied Appellant’s motion and held Galloway-Williams would be allowed to testify because she could provide information which could assist the jury in its province to determine credibility of all witnesses. (R.p.178, line 14-p.184, line 14).

Following the ruling, the jury returned to the courtroom and the State proceeded to question Galloway-Williams. Appellant renewed his objection to the testimony and asked that it be recognized as an ongoing objection through the entirety of her testimony. The objection was noted by the trial court. The State then presented nearly identical testimony about qualifications as was previously proffered. Without objection, the trial court qualified Galloway-Williams as an expert in the “dynamics of childhood sexual

abuse.” (R.p.184, line 22-p.188, line 25). The trial judge then gave the following instruction:

Ladies and gentlemen, I’m going to find the witness can be qualified as an expert in the dynamics of child sexual abuse, and under our rules of scientific, technical or other specialized knowledge will assist you, the trier of facts, in understanding any evidence or determining any issue that may be in controversy. A witness can be qualified as an expert by virtue of his or her experience, training, knowledge, skill or education and may testify in the form of opinions. Now, you are to give this witness’s testimony such weight and credibility as you deem appropriate, as you will with any and all witnesses who will testify in this case.

(R.p.189, lines 1-13).

Galloway-Williams then explained her purpose in testifying was to provide information about the dynamics of child sexual abuse. She testified she had not been in contact with the victim in the case, did not know any of the parties involved, had not viewed the victim’s written statement, and had not seen any evidence in the case.

Galloway-Williams explained “delayed disclosure” as a term for describing how children do not tell about sexual abuse right away. She said in her experience delayed disclosure was very common, with the primary reason being fear that something will happen to them or something will happen to someone else. She explained the role guilt and shame play in child sexual abuse and delayed disclosure. Galloway-Williams also explained the impact of an abuser being in a position of authority over the victim and overall relationship dynamics. She provided information about the “normalization of sexual activity” and “grooming.” Finally, Galloway-Williams described the term “compliant victim” and how disclosure can be even more challenging for older victims who look at themselves as willing participants in the abuse. (R.p.189, line 16-p.197, line 24).

On cross-examination, Appellant asked Galloway-Williams about false allegations of sexual abuse. She testified that statistically they were a “very low number,” explaining that while false allegations do happen, only between two and four percent or allegations are false. Galloway-Williams testified it was much more likely to have a false denial where there is other proof of the abuse than the chances of a purely false allegation, according to the research. (R.p.198, line 3-p.200, line 23). At the close of Galloway-Williams’ testimony, the State rested and the jury exited the courtroom. Appellant moved for a directed verdict and the trial court denied the motion. (R.p.201, line 10-p.203, line 6).

After the defense rested, the parties made closing arguments. First, the solicitor described the elements of the crime and reminded the jury that this was primarily a case about credibility. He talked about general methods to evaluate credibility and discussed the testimony given by the victim and each of the witnesses. The solicitor noted the jury should evaluate Galloway-Williams credibility based in part on her experience and training. He then discussed the other evidence presented at trial including the cell phone call logs. The solicitor recounted testimony about the victim’s emotional state and the disclosure in the context of the general information provided by Galloway-Williams, arguing Appellant engaged in grooming and that the victim behaved like a compliant victim. (R.p.216, line 18-p.246, line 2).

Appellant then presented his theory of defense, contending the victim was making “false allegations” and that the case came down to her testimony. He attacked the victim’s credibility by focusing on her inconsistencies, her lack of details, and her emotional state. Appellant argued she was motivated by jealousy and hatred and decided

to raise allegations of sexual abuse to get Appellant out of the house. (R.p.246, line 7-p.259, line 14).

The trial judge then charged the jury on the law including the State's burden of proof, the presumption of innocence, reasonable doubt, direct and circumstantial evidence, the roles of the judge and the jury, the jury's duty to determine the facts and the credibility of witnesses, and the elements of the offense. After deliberating for approximately forty-five minutes, the jury found Appellant guilty as indicted. He was sentenced to sixteen (16) years' imprisonment. (R. p. 278-208; R.p.259, line 15-p.277, line 12).

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**The trial court properly admitted testimony from the State’s expert on child sexual abuse dynamics regarding delayed disclosure and general behavioral characteristics of child sex abuse victims where that expert testimony assisted the jury to understand the evidence and did not improperly bolster the child victim’s testimony.**

Appellant argues the trial court erred in admitting the testimony of Galloway-Williams as an expert in the “dynamics of childhood sexual abuse” and in allowing her to explain common behavioral characteristic of sexually abused children, because her testimony “contained nothing that would assist the trier of fact” and “improperly bolstered” the victim’s credibility. He claims the trial court also “failed in its gatekeeping role to exclude such evidence” under Rule 702. Appellant contends Galloway-Williams gave only vague descriptions of commonsense concepts that were well within the realm of lay jurors. He argues the State sought to “circumvent” the principles explained in our supreme court’s recent decision in State v. Kromah<sup>1</sup> in a “thinly veiled attempt to bolster [victim’s] testimony.” (Brief of Appellant). The State disagrees and submits Appellant’s arguments are entirely without merit.

Appellant acknowledges this Court’s recently published opinion in State v. Brown, 411 S.C. 332, 768 S.E.2d 246 (Ct. App. 2015), wherein the Court considered and rejected claims identical to the ones raised in the instant appeal. However, he notes that a petition for certiorari is currently pending before the Supreme Court on a very similar

---

<sup>1</sup> 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013). In Kromah, the Supreme Court held a forensic interviewer should not have been allowed to testify about a “compelling finding” of child abuse, as that was the equivalent of stating the child was telling the truth. Id. at 359, 737 S.E.2d at 500. In a footnote, the court also found: “we can envision no circumstance where [a forensic interviewer’s] qualification as an expert at trial would be appropriate.”

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